1954

Margaret Jardine et al v. Archulius Archibald et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellants filed two actions in the District Court of Cache County, Utah, to set aside and vacate the transfer of certain realty and personalty to a sister, Archulius Archibald, and a brother, Wallace Buttars, made by their mother Emma G. Buttars, deceased. The cases were numbered Civil Case No. 7605 and Civil Case No. 7607.

In case 7605 the appellants were the plaintiffs and Archulius Archibald was the principal defendant. It was to her in that case the transfer of the property was made or attempted to be made. The other defendants were joined as heirs of Emma G. Buttars, deceased, because they did not desire to be joined as parties plaintiff.

In case No. 7607 Appellants were the plaintiffs and Wallace Buttars was the principal defendant. It was to him the transfers of the estate and personal property were made. The other defendants were joined for the same reason as mentioned in Civil Case No. 7605.

In both cases the plaintiffs and defendants constituted the heirs at law of Emma G. Buttars, deceased. She was the grantor and donor.

In each case the appellants charged that there existed a confidential relationship between Emma G. Buttars, the grantor, and the grantees, her children, and that the transfers were made while the grantor was incompetent or mentally and physically infirm and that they were induced by undue influence, that the personal property was not delivered in the lifetime of the donor.

On stipulation the cases were consolidated and tried together.

Separate findings of fact, conclusions of law and decrees were entered in each case.

Subsequent to the death of Emma G. Buttars some of her grandchildren contested the admitting of her will to probate. It was entitled Probate file No. 5167. The case was appealed to the Supreme Court, your file No. 1945, and this Court sustained the District Court's action in setting aside the verdict of the jury who had held that Emma G. Buttars was incompetent to make a will.

In the interest of economy and time it was stipulated that all of the proceedings, the evidence and exhibits of the will contest was admitted in evidence in the trial of the consolidated cases subject to its materiality and admissability, and that each of the parties could introduce such evidence as they desired except no further evidence would be offered on the question of Emma G. Buttars' incompetency except as it was incidental to the evidence being presented. (RR 56, 57).

In Civil Case No. 7605 wherein Archulius Archibald was the principal defendant the trial court entered judgment refusing to vacate the two deeds, U. S. Government bonds in question. However, it decreed that the bank stock in question had not been delivered and that it was the property of the appellants and respondents subject to probate under the terms of the last will and testament of Emma G. Buttars. (RR 30-41).

In Civil Case No. 7607 wherein Wallace Buttars was the principal defendant the court refused to vacate the

two deeds and government bonds in question. However, it decreed that a joint savings account in the names of Wallace Buttars and Emma G. Buttars in the First Security Bank of Logan in the sum of \$5,000.00 plus interest was the sole property of the defendant subject to the payment of the funeral and last illness expenses of Emma G. Buttars.

In the will contest case the numbering of the record was not changed. The proceedings, pleadings and transcript of the consolidated cases began with page 1. In the will contest case the pages were numbered 1 to 400 and in the pleadings and evidence in the two consolidated cases are numbered 1 to 239. For the purpose of identification when referring to that part of the record made in the will contest case we will identify it as R and the subsequent record as RR Civil Case No. 7605 is Case No. 8177 and Case No. 7607 is Case No. 8178, in this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

FACTS PERTAINING TO BOTH CASES

Appellants and respondents are the children and grandchildren of Daniel Buttars and Emma G. Buttars, deceased. All of their married lives they were residents of Clarkston, a small farming community in Cache County. They reared a large family, ten children, and accumulated extensive farming interests. Daniel Buttars died in Clarkston, January 10, 1916 and at the time his children were of the following ages: Daniel, 33 years;

Margaret, 29 years; Melvin H., 27 years; Orson M., 24 years; Mabell, 22 years; Gover, 20 years; Ira, 17 years; Hattie, 15 years; Archulius, principal defendant, 12 years, and Wallace, the other principal defendant, 9 years. (Ex. 27.)

Sometime prior to his death the father, Daniel Buttars, gave and sold to his eldest sons certain lands as follows: to Daniel he gave 80 acres and sold him 80 acres; to Melvin he gave 80 acres and sold him 80 acres; to Orson he gave 80 acres and sold him 80 acres; to Gover he gave 60 acres; and to Ira he gave 60 acres. (RR 118, 122).

He gave no land to any of the *daughters* in his lifetime and none was given to the defendant Wallace Buttars, the youngest son. There was a good reason for the land gifts to the elder sons. In each instance, except Wallace, they had worked with their parents and helped accumulate the property. The boys were not paid wages, only given their food, clothing and spending money. The land was given when they married and left home except as to Ira and his was given just before his father's death. (RR 118, 122).

The estate of Daniel Buttars was probated, the widow, Emma G. Buttars received her statutory one-third and the children each received their distributive share. Decree of Distribution was entered March 10, 1917. Daniel, Melvin and Emma G. Buttars were the administrators. (Ex. 27).

Emma G. Buttars never re-married and she and her sons Ira and Gover operated the farm for some

years. Ira later married, sold his 60 acres to his bother Gover and moved to Burley, Idaho. Gover then operated the farm until 1930 when he also moved to Burley and he then sold his 120 acres to his mother, thus adding this acreage to her holdings. From 1930 to the date of his mother's death on July 1, 1952, Wallace operated the farm for her on a lease basis. (R 173, 176, 177, 331).

Emma G. Buttars was 51 years of age when widowed in 1916. She never had any serious illness until 1940, when she was 75 years of age. All the testimony is to the effect that at all times when she enjoyed good health she was self-reliant, frugal, determined and had a firm will of her own. (R 223). Was inclined to be close or even stingy and believed everyone should work and earn what they got, (R 201, 215, 226, 292) and, in fact, she kept her own holdings intact and added thereto until the conveyances and transfers hereinafter mentioned and which were made by her after she was 80 years of age and six days after she made her will in which she stated she desired to treat all of her children equally. (R 219).

Advancing years made their impact on her health. In 1940 she had her first serious illness (R 145). She was then hospitalized in the Cache Valley Hospital, Logan, Utah. She suffered from high blood pressure, hardening of the arteries, heart ailment, pneumonia, kidney trouble and thereafter suffered terrible headaches. (R. 145, 201, 226). Thereafter she was never the same, physically or mentally. This was the testimony of her grandchildren who had seen her more or less frequently, (R 293) and according to her own children who waited

upon her and saw her almost daily or at short intervals. (R 168, 201). After this illness from which she never fully recovered she continued to deteriorate physically and mentally. (R 185, 186, 201, 203) and in 1944 she was again seriously ill and hospitalized. (R 203).

After her first illness in 1940, a serious and obvious change came over Emma G. Buttars — her mind continued to deteriorate. (R 146, 185, 203). She could not remember, particularly recent events, even from morning until later in the day, (R 31, 43, 150, 146, 147, 201, 203) nor remember her eldest grandson, whom she knew best, (R 31, 33, 34, 42, 53) nor their wives. She did not realize that her eldest son, Dan, was dead, his death occurring February 21, 1945 (R 30-37, 42). A few days over a month before the transfers hereinafter mentioned were commenced, she worried over finances, (R 202, 204, 190); her mind was confused as to whether she had enough to live on when in fact she was well fixed (R 167, 190); she disliked people for no apparent reason, would repeat, asking the same thing over and over again, (R 168, 203); was incoherent and could not stick to a subject, (R 228, 157); hid silverware in her bed, (R 202, 227); accused some of her children of borrowing money from her when they did not (R 227, 229); hid money, couldn't distinguish between her own property and others and claimed her son's turkeys as her own (R 158); stayed in all of the time (R 228-30). Even the family did not want her condition generally known. She did not know what she had possessed in the way of property, (R 204-205, 208), or what she had done or signed away and

couldn't handle any amount of money (R 204, 211, 222, 223, 228); purchased a dress to go to the funeral of her son Ira, who died in 1949, and then forgot he had died. (R 109, 212). She did not know pursuant to arrangements that her son, Wallace, was handling her finances, writing her checks, etc. (R 213, 344-50); did not know, pursuant to arrangements, that her own daughters were being paid by her son Wallace, from her money, for taking turns in caring for her. (R 215).

On July 1, 1918, Dan borrowed \$1500.00 from his mother on his note payable on or before five years after date, and at the same time gave her a mortgage as security therefor, which was never recorded. (Con. Exs. 2 and 3). Dan's cancelled check dated January 17, 1923, payable to the deceased and upon which she had written "Paid in full" was produced. (Con. Ex. 1). No one ever heard her say Dan owed her money (R 211). She filed no claim against Dan's estate. She was always affectionate toward Dan, her eldest son, yet one month before drawing her will she showed no emotion at his passing. (R 211). In her will she said she wanted to treat all of her children alike, then omitted her son Dan's children because she had forgotten he had repaid the loan. She said he owed her more than his share of the estate would amount to. (Ex. A).

In 1944, Wallace and Archulius, the principal defendants, called the family together and a meeting was held at Margaret's place. Margaret, Gover, Melvin, Archulius and Wallace were present. It was there reported by Archulius and Wallace that their mother was not in

a condition, physically or mentally, to be left alone. Melvin suggested appointment of a guardian. It was opposed particularly by Wallace who said that he could take care of his mother's affairs and that no guardian was needed. (R 181, 182, 216, 225, 389, RR 86, 88, 89).

In 1950 another meeting was called by Wallace and Archulius again regarding their mother and at this meeting it was decided the girls would take turns caring for their mother, be paid for it, and thereafter Wallace would write and sign the checks for the payment of all of his mother's obligations. (RR 90-92).

On March 28, 1945, six days after she made her will, in direct contradiction to its express provisions that she was treating her family equally, she deeded 60 acres of land worth \$12,000.00 to Wallace reserving a life estate. The conveyance was without consideration. (Def. Ex. 21; RR 127, 137, 138).

Again on January 28, 1947, without consideration Mrs. Buttars deeded 48 acres of land to Archulius worth approximately \$9,600.00, reserving a life estate. (Cont. Ex. 22; RR 136, 137, 145).

On the same date, January 29, 1947, she transferred \$5,000.00 from her account in the First Security Bank at Logan to the First National Bank of Logan and opened a joint savings account, without consideration, with Wallace. (R 366, 367; Con. Ex. 13, Ex. 11).

On March 3, 1948, she sold to Archulius land worth \$2,000.00 for \$500.00 (Con. Ex. 22; RR 136; R 99, 198).

Again on May 6, 1948, she gave Wallace, without

consideration, another 60 acre tract of land worth \$12,000.00. (Con. Ex. 24; RR 127, 137, 138).

On the date Mrs. Buttars made her will she had about 330 acres of land worth approximately \$66,400.00 and on the date of her death she had about 160 acres of land worth about \$33,600.00. This included her home at Clarkston. The value of the property on the date of making her will and the date of the transfers was the same at the date of her death. (R 194; RR 136, 139).

When her safety deposit box was opened in the First Security Bank at Logan, it contained several instruments including U. S. Savings bonds and stock certificates. Of the contents of the box she attempted to make the following gifts: to Archulius \$1000.00 maturity value U. S. Savings bond dated April, 1948, and 22 shares of First Security Corporation stock (since split 4 to 1) worth approximately \$880.00. Attached to the savings bond and stock certificate was a statement signed by Mrs. Buttars dated April 9, 1945, which said she was making this gift because the Clarkston Mill Stock Archulius received from her father's estate had become valueless. To her also was three \$500.00 maturity value U. S. Savings Bonds dated April, 1948. (Ex. 7, RR 62; Pl. Ex. 1-A, RR 72).

To Hattie, a sister, a \$1000.00 maturity value U. S. Savings bond dated April, 1948, and 22 shares of First Security Corporation stock (since split 4 to 1) worth approximately \$880.00. Attached to the savings bond and stock certificate was a statement signed by Mrs. Buttars dated April 9, 1945, which said she was making this gift

because the Clarkston Mill stock Hattie received from her father's estate had become valueless. To her also was three \$500.00 maturity value U. S. Savings bonds dated April, 1948. (RR 63, 64; Pl. Ex. 9-A; Ex. 7).

When their father's estate was probated both Archulius and Hattie, sisters, were decreed stock in the Clarkston-Trenton Mill which, although valuable at the time worth approximately \$2,640.00 to each, it later became valueless. (RR 107).

To Wallace one \$100.00 maturity value U. S. Savings Bond dated December, 1944, one \$1,000.00 maturity value U. S. Savings Bond dated April, 1948, and a \$25.00 maturity value U. S. Savings Bond dated April, 1948. (RR 63, Ex. 7).

To a grandson, Milton Buttars, she gave a \$500.00 maturity value and one \$50.00 maturity value Savings Bonds dated April, 1948. (Cont. Ex. 7).

All of these savings bonds were made payable to Mrs. Buttars and a joint payee, as the case may be.

On the date of her death Mrs. Buttars had a \$9,437.58 savings account in the First Security Bank at Logan and a checking account in the sum of \$2,093.64. (R 391).

To Wallace she had given or attempted to give property worth approximately \$30,125.00. (Ex. 7; R. 366, 367; Con. Ex. 13; Ex. 11, 127, 138, 137, 136, 145).

To Archulius she gave or attempted to give property worth approximately \$12,980.00. (Ex. 7, 1-A; RR 62, 72).

To Hattie she gave or attempted to give property

worth approximately \$3,380.00. (RR 63, 64; Pl. Ex. 9-A, Ex. 7).

She made no gifts to any of her other children in her lifetime.

Had her estate been left intact as intended by the will on her death it would have been worth approximately \$97,166.22. Instead it had a value of approximately \$45,131.22.

Although Mrs. Buttars gave approximately 48 acres of land worth about \$9,600.00 to Archulius she gave no land or other property except that which was found in the safety deposit box aforementioned to Hattie. (RR 97).

The execution and delivery of the deeds to both Wallace and Archulius and the \$5,000.00 savings account were made without the knowledge of the other brothers and sisters and the family did not learn of the deeds to Wallace and the savings account until the fall of 1950. (R 192, 216, 217, 239; RR 92, 93, 94, 95, 102). However, one of the sisters learned of the deeds to Archulius about a year after they were made. (RR 102). Just when Archulius and Wallace learned of the transfer to each other is not known.

In 1951 and 1952, Mrs. Buttars was worried over what she had done with her property and asked her daughters to straighten out her affairs. (R 237, 238, 255).

After her husband's death Mrs. Buttars always had one of her sons, Gover, Ira or Wallace with her to help her transact her business. (R 175, 176, 177).

The family had complete confidence in Archulius and

Wallace in their handling of their mother's affairs until 1950. (R 216, 217).

Mrs. Buttars' will was drafted on March 22, 1945, by Newel G. Daines, an attorney at Logan, Utah, who was recommended to her by Wallace. She was taken to his office by him for this purpose although he denied he knew she was going to make a will or that she had made one. The will was made and executed with the advice of the lawyer. (R 381, 382).

All of appellants' witnesses and the defendant Wallace who stated that they never ever heard their mother express any dissatisfaction with the terms of the said Final Decree of Distribution and Partition.

FACTS PERTAINING PRIMARILY TO ARCHULIUS

Archulius, after her father's death, when she was 12 years of age, lived with her mother until her marriage in 1921. After that she lived across the street from her. (RR 77, 78).

After 1944 she helped her mother with the keeping of the family record book, the buying of necessities, groceries, etc., her mother entrusted her in the cashing of checks and checks signed by her mother in blank. (RR 81, 82). Her mother also entrusted her with the \$5,000.00 savings deposit book. (RR 85).

When Mrs. Buttars' safety deposit box was opened after her death, there was found a statement therein dated April 9, 1945, signed by her to which was attached a \$5,000.00 maturity value U. S. Savings Bond and 22

shares of First Security Corporation stock (now 88 shares) worth \$880.00. The statement said her mother was giving her the bond and stock because the Clarkston-Trenton Mill stock which Archulius received from her father's estate turned out to be valueless. (R 62, Ex. 1-A). There were also in the deposit box three \$500.00 maturity value U. S. Savings Bonds in favor of Archulius. (Ex. 7). In the safety deposit box there was also found the same amount of stock and bonds for Hattie together with a statement to the same effect as that attached to Archulius' stock. (Ex. 7; RR 63; Pl. Ex. 9-9-A).

On January 29, 1947, Archulius said she took her mother to the office of O. S. Crockett at which time her mother executed a deed giving her approximately 48 acres of land worth \$9,600.00. (RR 98; Ex. 22; RR 136, 137, 145).

Her explanation for this gift was that her mother told her she was giving it to her because her Clarkston-Trenton Mill stock became valueless. (R 191, 192; RR 92, 94).

Both Archulius and her sister Hattie received the same amount of mill stock from their father's estate and in both cases it became worthless. At the time of the distribution it was worth \$2,640.00 to each. Hattie was not given any land or other property by her mother, except the stocks and bonds mentioned. (RR 97).

On March 3, 1948, Archulius *purchased* from her mother 10.25 acres of land worth \$2,000.00 for \$500.00. She took her mother to the office of O. S. Crockett,

abstracter and notary public, who prepared the deeds. (Con. Ex. 21, RR 136, 99, 198).

After her mother had transferred \$5,000.00 from the First Security Bank of Logan to the First National Bank of Logan and created a joint savings account with Wallace, Archulius had her mother eliminate Wallace's name from the account and took her to Logan to the First National Bank for this purpose, supervising the act. (R 192, 213, 239; RR 93, 94). Subsequently, as hereinafter appears, Wallace again triumphed and had his mother reinstate his name to the account.

Archulius said her mother did not read the deed to the 48 acres before signing it and that she might just as well have had the City Creek property. This consisted of about 160 acres and worth \$27,800.00. (R 191; RR 136, 139)

Archulius never told any member of the family that her mother was giving her the 48 acres or selling her the 10.25 acres prior to or at the time the transfers were made and they did not learn of it until the fall of 1950, except that one sister, Maybell, was told of it about a year after. (R 216, 217; RR 92).

When Archulius and Maybell were asked by their mother to straighten out the mess she was in regarding her affairs Archulius said to Maybell, "Let's not bother her about them." (R 238).

Archulius and Wallace in 1944 called the family together to consider the care of their mother and the management of her affairs. When her brother Melvin suggested the appointment of a guardian to take care

of her mother's finances and affairs she and Wallace joined with the others in opposing it. (R 181, 182, 216, 225, 389; RR 86, 88, 89).

Margaret testified that her mother told her, while looking through the window toward the Archibald's that she wished they would quit hounding her about her property. (RR 211, 212).

FACTS PERTAINING PRIMARILY TO WALLACE BUTTARS

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