1954

Margaret Jardine et al v. Archulius Archibald et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Point 1. *The findings and judgment of the Court, finding and adjudging that Archulius Archibald and Wallace Buttars, are the owners of the real property, mentioned and described in their respective cases, No. 7605 and No. 7607, are supported by competent and uncontradicted evidence.*

The evidence is direct and positive that Emma G. Buttars conveyed to the defendant Wallace Buttars 120 acres of dry farm land, as evidenced by two deeds of

conveyance, identified as Ex. 23 and Ex. 24; and, she conveyed to the defendant Archulius B. Archibald, 58.84 acres of land, as evidenced by two deeds of conveyance, identified as Ex. 21 and Ex. 22. These deeds were executed by Mrs. Buttars on and between the 28th day of March, 1945, and the 6th day of May 1948, and they were filed for record with the County Recorder on the date they bear, except Ex. 22, which was filed five days after date thereof.

Mrs. Buttars reserved a life estate in the property conveyed to Wallace and in the tract of 48.59 acres conveyed to Archulius. Thus she continued to receive the income from the property to and including the year 1952, and her estate will receive the income to and including 1954, as provided by the written leases. And this income is reflected in her bank accounts. (R. 137). And moreover, Mrs. Buttars retained title to additional real property and also the bank accounts as appears from the petition to probate her will. (R. 1-4).

The manner in which Emma G. Buttars conducted her business affairs was without suggestion from any individual. She selected the time when each of the aforesaid deeds were executed. The defendant Wallace Buttars testified from his business dealings and experience with her that — “I know definitely that no one could get Mother to do something she didn’t want to do,” and she kept her business matters to herself. (R. 368, 369).

With respect to the execution of said deeds, plaintiffs allege that the deeds were procured by unlawful means and undue influence and with intent to defraud

their brothers and sisters, and that Wallace and Archulius persuaded their mothers, Emma G. Buttars, to execute and deliver to them said deeds of conveyance. These allegations were denied by the defendants, and it is submitted that plaintiffs evidence fails to prove these allegations. In addition to the constructive notice given to the plaintiffs, by the recording of said deeds, Melvin, Maybell and Margaret had actual notice thereof at the meeting held at Cornish Service Station in the fall of 1950. (R.R. 94, 95, 102). Why didn't they then talk to their Mother about the deeds and bank account, if they were in fact obtained by fraudulent means?

The fact that they did not then talk to her indicates that they then knew their Mother had purposely executed the deeds and opened the Savings account in the First National Bank, in order to equalize for the property given to the older children by their father. Although they did not talk to their mother as a committee, it does appear that Maybell Griffith talked to her mother about the deeds made to Wallace and Archulius, and in response, Mrs. Buttars, according to the testimony of Archulius, "marked off portions on the table and she said — "your father gave the older boys their portions and I am going to give Wallace his." (R.R. 96).

The evidence discloses without dispute that Mrs. Buttars intended to give the three younger children, Archulius, Wallace and Hattie some property to equalize the property given by their father to the older children, particularly the older boys. (R.R. 174). Testimony to the same effect was given by the witness, David Sparks, who testified that — "And she said that she had made up

her mind that when the estate was settled every one of the family got their share, and they would go their way and do just as they pleased with their portion of the property. And she felt like she had the same right to do with her property, she was going to see that those younger children was taken care of to her knowledge" (R.R. 174). That conversation was had about the year 1945. (R.R. 174)

It will thus be seen that Mrs. Buttars had been intending for a period of time to give the younger children certain property to equalize for the property received by the older boys when they were married. And moreover, for many years Archulius and Wallace lived near their mother and saw her daily and when ever she needed a service of any kind one or the other responded. This is reflected throughout their testimony.

It should also be kept in mind that this is not a case where the grantor conveyed all of his or her property, to avoid heirs at law, or creditors. In the case at bar, Mrs. Buttars retained about 170 acres of farm land, and personal property, free of encumbrance, in which the plaintiffs herein will equally participate. In most, if not all of the cases cited in appellants brief, the grantor's conveyance included all of his or her property.

Plaintiffs and appellants contend that Mrs. Buttars was incompetent at the time each of the deeds were executed. The defendants witnesses testified that Mrs. Buttars was ~~in~~ incompetent at the time each of the deeds were executed, ~~on the 6th day of May, 1948.~~

In support of their contention they cite, *Kadogan v. Booker*, 66 S. E. 297. From an examination of the

opinion in that case it will be seen that the mental and physical condition of Laura Swain, the grantor, at the time she executed the deed was vastly different from the mental and physical condition of Mrs. Buttars, when each of the deeds in question were executed by her. And the circumstances under which the deed was executed in that case were entirely different from the facts and circumstances surrounding the execution of deeds in the case at bar. Despite that fact the Supreme Court of West Virginia stated the rule to be — “There exists a presumption that a grantor in a deed conveying real estate was mentally competent to execute the deed. Mere infirmity of mind and body is not sufficient to overcome such presumption. The time of the execution and delivery of the instrument is the time at which the question of mental capacity is to be determined.”

Appellants cite *Johnson vs. Reese*, 249 S. W. 538, (Ky.) as authority. Here again the facts and circumstances are at variance with the facts and circumstances surrounding the execution of the deeds by Mrs. Buttars. In the course of the opinion the court stated: “There was evidence that grantor was easily influenced,” and that, “The daughter and her husband, living with the grantor, had the opportunity to and undoubtedly did influence him. The record shows that the grantor was in bad health and had to be taken care of before and at the time of the execution of the deed.”

The case of *Morris vs. Williams-Garrison*, 128 S. E. 78, 99 W. Va. 140, is also cited by appellants. In reviewing the facts the court stated: “The grantor in that case

was a moron. From his childhood his mentality had been regarded subnormal by his family, and the people of the community. His mind had never grown up. His parents considered him mentally incapable of attending to any business, and managed all his affairs during their lifetime."

We have examined all the cases cited by appellants in their brief and in every instance the condition of the grantor was in a much more serious condition than was Emma C. Buttars when she executed each of the deeds involved in the case at bar. In fact her health was normal for a woman of her age. This is the testimony of some 15 witnesses including neighbors, business people and her physician, all of whom testified positively that until March 21, 1951, when she suffered a heart attack, she was healthy and normal in all respects. She took care of her own business, wrote and signed checks on her bank account. Made deposits to her checking and savings accounts, and it was during this time that she purchased the bonds and securities found in her bank box after her demise. As reflected by the evidence in this case Mrs. Buttars' business ability and acumen was far above average.

Point 2. *Appellants contend that there existed a confidential relationship between Emma G. Buttars and her children, Archulius and Wallace, at the time the transfers or attempted transfers were made.*

Appelants base their conclusions upon the fact that Archulius and Wallace lived near their mother and visited frequently. Appellants counsel cite the case of Fisher vs. Burgiel, (Ill.) 46 N. E. 380, contending that the facts in

that case are similar to the facts in the instant case. When the opinion in that case is examined it will be seen that the mental and physical condition of Nellie Hollingshead were such that she was suffering from senile dementia; that she did not understand or comprehend the nature of her acts. She was forgetful and absent minded, was dirty and unkempt in her house and personal habits; that she failed to recognize old friends. Her physician testified that from 1936, she had a progressive senile dementia. It was while in this condition that she signed the deeds and made withdrawals from the Bank. The foregoing facts appears from the opinion. There was some testimony to the contrary. There was no reservation of a life estate, and it does not appear whether she possessed or owned other property, but it is evident from the condition of her health that she was unable to and did not transact business as was done by Mrs. Buttars, for more than three years after the last deed was executed.

The case of Woolwine vs. Bryant, (Iowa) 54 N. W. 759, is cited but the facts in that case are dissimilar from the facts in case at bar. No relationship existed between the grantor and grantee, and a life estate in the property was not reserved in the deed. On conflicting evidence the court cancelled the deed and upon appeal judgment was affirmed. In the case at bar there was substantial evidence to support the judgment of the trial court, and although the plaintiffs attempted to show that there existed a confidential relationship between Mrs. Buttars and Wallace and Archulius, there was an abundance of testimony to the contrary, and the court had a right to resolve the conflict, if any, in favor of respondents.

By use of the Corpus Juris digest we were referred to a very late Oklahoma case, *Watkins vs. Musselman et. al.* 239 P. 2nd 418, where the facts are very similar to the facts in the instant case, and it was contended that fraud and undue influence had been exercised upon the grantor. The trial court there held that the deeds were executed and delivered as the free and voluntary act of the grantor, and that the transaction was free of any undue influence or fraud. In the course of the opinion the court held that – “the judgment of the trial court will not be disturbed on appeal, unless the same is clearly against the weight of the evidence.” In holding against the contention of the plaintiff and appellant in that case, that undue influence had been exercised upon the grantor when she executed the deed the court stated: “As we view the plaintiffs’ evidence it, at most, discloses that Patti Musselman had an opportunity to unduly influence Mrs. Brown, not that she in fact did.” In the course of the opinion the following rule is stated: “Power, motive and opportunity to exercise undue influence do not alone authorize the inference that such influence has in fact been exercised,” and, in referring to the court’s holding in a previous case, *Melton vs. Melton*, 135 P. 2d. 43, the opinion states: “we held: ‘To set aside any transaction on the ground of undue influence, it must be shown not only that such influence existed and that it was exercised, but also that it was exercised effectively; that is, that it was the efficient cause in bringing about the transaction complained of.’”

We also found a late case from the state of Colorado. *Mehlbrant vs. Hal*, 213 P. 2d. 605. The facts in that case reveal that in accordance with a previous wish the mother

executed a deed conveying certain real estate to her son. It appears that this was the only property she owned. Her daughter with whom she had lived shortly prior to the execution of this deed, and apparently the only other child took action as the administratrix of her estate to set aside the deed. The trial court held against the plaintiff and on appeal the judgment was affirmed.

Upon appeal the appellant contended that there was a fiduciary relationship between mother and son and that the son had exercised undue influence upon his mother in procuring the deed. The trial court in finding against the plaintiff stated: "The burden of proof is on the plaintiff, and after most mature consideration of all the facts, I must conclude that the plaintiff has not sustained the burden, and the issues in this case will be resolved in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiff, and the plaintiff's complaint will be dismissed."

In the course of the opinion the court followed a rule adopted by the court in an earlier case: "In equity the judgment is essentially a deduction as to what is just and true from the facts and circumstances proven in each particular case. It is therefore a question for the trial court as to the convincing effect of the evidence, when that tribunal enters a decree, and there is a quantum of admissible and proper evidence to support its conclusions, we must presume that it was governed by proper rules of law, unless the contrary appears, and that its findings are correct."

There are numerous decisions holding to the same effect. When that rule is applied to the undisputed facts

in the case at bar, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments of the trial court should be affirmed.

Point 3. *The findings and judgment of the court declaring Wallace Buttars and Archilus B. Archibald to be owners of the United States savings bond, mentioned and described in their respective cases, are supported by competent and uncontradicted evidence.*

The United States Savings Bonds involved in this matter were held in joint tenants and the parties so stipulated (R.R. 149). The Court asked the question (R.R. 149): "Q. Do I understand that either of these owners could present that bond for payment, and be paid in cash without the other persons consent or authorization in any way? A. That is right." (R.R. 149). This, of course, should dispose of the question of ownership of the bonds.

Davies v. Beach et al (Cal.) 168 2d 452. (Note: This case involved U. S. Bonds with the standard "payable at death" clause, but the Court did not consider the difference between such a clause and joint tenancy important) "the regulations of the Treasury Department, under which the bonds are issued, have the force of Federal Laws; the State cannot vary the terms of federal obligations Some of the bonds in those cases were issued to two persons as co-owners, and others to the purchaser, and upon his death, to a named beneficiary. There seems to be no logical distinction to be made between the rights in the bonds of a surviving beneficiary."

We believe that a recent Montana case sufficiently disposes of this particular question. In *Re Marsh's Estate* (Mont.) 234 P. 2d 459. In that case the bonds were made in the name of "C. H. Marsh," and others.

“However, government bonds (same type as involved in our case) because of the special nature of the contract can never be held in tenancy by the entirety. The characteristic that distinguishes the tenancy by the entirety from other co-tenancies is that neither of the cotenants alone can terminate the tenancy or sever the estate. *Either cotenant may sell government bonds upon surrender of the bond and receive the full accrued value.* The tenancy is thus severed and one cotenant can reduce the entire property to his own possession and his cotenant receives nothing.” (Italics supplied.)

The law relating to gifts inter vivos has no application to U. S. Treasury Bonds, and this has been held countless times. For an example see *Lee v. Anderson* (Ariz.) 218 P. 2d 732. Further citations would unduly lengthen this brief to no avail.

Point 4. *The findings and judgment of the court, finding and adjudging that Wallace Buttars is the owner of the savings account in the First National Bank, are supported by competent and uncontradicted evidence.*

From the evidence it appears that Emma G. Buttars, on January 29, 1947, deposited \$5,000.00, with the First National Bank of Logan, in a joint savings account in the names of Emma G. Buttars, ~~and~~ Wallace Buttars. (R.R. 147). The deposit ticket was identified as Con. No. 11, Case No. 5167, and was offered and received in evidence. With permission of the court a copy of this exhibit was substituted for the original. (R.R. 149). On that date the account was posted to the Savings account ledger sheet. (R.R. 147). And a joint deposit card (Con. Ex.

No. 13) was prepared with the names of Emma G. Buttars and Wallace Buttars, typed thereon under date of Jan. 29, 1947. This card contained the signatures of Emma G. Buttars and Wallace Buttars on the front side thereof, but apparently through oversight they did not sign their names to the reverse side thereof. (R.R. 152). This card was identified as exhibit No. 13.

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